STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

 ORIGINAL

Appeal from Horry County

Honorable Larry B. Hyman, Circuit Court Judge

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

RECEIVED

OCT 13 2017

SC Court of Appeals

V.

BRIAN KENDRICK SPEARS,

APPELLANT

APPELLATE CASE NO 2017-000480

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

ROBERT M. PACHAK
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF ISSUE ON APPEAL

Whether the lower court in its order on remand was incorrect in ruling that the probative value of the prior similar bad act was not outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Appellant was convicted of murder and three (3) counts of assault and battery with intent to kill after a jury trial held before the Honorable Larry B. Hyman, Jr., on May 10-13, 2010, in Horry County. A sentence of thirty (30) years was imposed for murder and twenty (20) year sentences were imposed on the remaining charges.

Appellant appealed his convictions and submitted a final brief on September 12, 2011. Respondent submitted its final brief also on September 12, 2011. Oral argument was heard in the Court of Appeals on January 17, 2013. On April 17, 2013, the court issued an opinion remanding the case to the trial court for it to conduct an on-the-record balancing test under Rule 403, SCRE to determine whether the probative value of the prior bad act of a shooting was substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice.

On April 26, 2013, respondent filed a petition for rehearing en banc. On May 2, 2013, appellant filed a petition for rehearing. Both petitions for rehearing were denied on June 14, 2013. Appellant filed a petition for writ of certiorari on July 15, 2013. The State filed a petition for writ of certiorari on July 12, 2013. On August 1, 2013, appellant filed a return to the State's petition. On August 14, 2013, the State filed a return to appellant's petition. On September 11, 2014, the South Carolina Supreme Court issued an order denying the petitions of both parties.

The rehearing on remand for the Rule 403, SCRE balancing test was not heard until December 8, 2016. Barbara Pratt, Esq. again represented appellant and Thomas Terrell, Esq. represented the respondent.

On February 9, 2017, the Honorable Larry B. Hyman issued his amended order on remand for the Rule 403 hearing. He found that the probative value of the prior similar bad act was not substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice. He also found there was not

an undue tendency to suggest a decision on an improper basis brought on by the propensity argument.

This appeal follows.

ARGUMENT

The lower court in its order on remand was incorrect in ruling that the probative value of the prior similar bad act was not outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice.

The victim was shot and killed in Myrtle Beach while he was visiting there with some of the gang members he was with from Lumberton, North Carolina. Appellant, Jeffrey Bethea, and Nathaniel Douglas were in a rival gang also from Lumberton and they, too, were visiting in Myrtle Beach. No one was really quite sure who did the shooting.¹ The police made a composite sketch of the suspected shooter that resembled Jeffrey Bethea. Nathan Douglas testified for the State and implicated Bethea. Bethea testified for the State in exchange for more lenient treatment and implicated appellant. Appellant's defense was the Bethea was the one (1) shooter.

Eight shell casings were recovered from the crime scene and three bullets were recovered from the victim's body. (R. p. 79, line 9- p. 81, line 15). They were all identified as coming from a .25 caliber semi-automatic weapon. (R. p. 349, line 19- p. 350, line 22). It was the own State's witness, Nathaniel Douglas, who said appellant had a titanium chrome handgun with a lot of black on it. It was a medium sized automatic handgun the size of a .380. He said everybody in the car with him that night had a handgun. (R. p. 220, line 10- p. 221, line 22).

On cross-examination, Douglas said it was Bethea that had gotten into an argument with a rival gang member that day and appellant was calm. (R. p. 228, line 4- p. 231, line 6). Douglas said he was 19 at the time, appellant was 20, and Bethea who was the leader was much older. (R. p. 232, line 17- p. 233, line 1). When they got back home after the shooting, Bethea said he smoked sausage and nobody had to worry about it now. "Smoked sausage" meant the victim was

¹ Respondent admitted in his brief that the "State proceeded under the theory that either Appellant or Bethea shot victim... (Brief of Respondent, p. 8)

stiff. Bethea was bragging. Nobody else was. (R. p. 249, line 1- p. 250, line 13). Douglas also said Bethea told him he needed to tell the police that appellant did it but he wouldn't do it. (R. p. 250, line 24- p. 251, line 11).

The assistant solicitor also had to try to make a point that appellant made rap lyrics about the incident to try to corroborate Bethea's version of the shooting blaming appellant. (R. p. 324, line 7- p. 325, line 16). Nathaniel Douglas explained, however, that rap music is just a reflection of what is going on and is fiction. If it weren't all rappers would be in jail. (R. p. 252, line 18, p. 253, line 4).

Jeffrey Bethea testified that he was charged with murder and three attempt to kill charges. He pled guilty to voluntary manslaughter in exchange for his promise to testify. (R. p. 355, lines 10-23). He said he turned himself in because he saw the composite drawing of himself in the newspaper. When he turned himself in, he was arrested. He pinned the murder on appellant in his interviews with the police. (R. p. 372, line 15- p. 373, line 23). Earlier it was noted that the assistant attorney general said the State's theory of the case was that either Bethea or appellant shot the victim. One could also theorize that Bethea killed the victim, since his composite drawing became public, and he decided to pin the murder on appellant to get more favorable for himself. Appellant also was not known to use a .25 caliber handgun.

After the State rested its case, the defense called Alexis Brown to testify. The victim was the father of her young son. She was with the victim the night he was killed. (R. p. 445, line 10- p. 446, line 12). She identified Jeffrey Bethea as the person who shot the victim from the composite drawing of him. (R. p. 449, line 6- p. 450, line 10).

Deandre Bishop testified that he came into contact with Jeffrey Bethea while they were both at J. Reuben Long Detention Center. Bethea told him he did what he was charged with “but he wasn’t going down by hisself.” (R. p. 458, line 21- p. 460, line 22).

Appellant testified he did not shoot the people he was charged with shooting. (R. p. 468, lines 3-10). He talked about the altercation Bethea had with a rival gang member at the beach. (R. p. 476, lines 6-11). Appellant said he did not see the actual shooting. After it happened he went back to where they parked and they all went back to Lumberton. (R. p. 478, lines 5-24). At a cookout back in Lumberton, he overheard Bethea commenting on the victim as being “smoked sausage and we ain’t got to worry about him no more...” (R. p. 479, lines 18-21). He explained that rap music does not always come from personal experience but from what people want to hear. (R. p. 490, lines 7-14). He said he brought a gun with him to the beach but left it in the car. (R. p. 491, lines 10-16). “It was a black, faded black 380 11 shot.” (R. p. 502, lines 19-20).

THE ARGUMENT PRESENTED ON DIRECT APPEAL

The trial court erred in admitting evidence that appellant shot the victim about a month prior to the shooting death for which appellant was on trial because it was unfairly prejudicial under Rule 403, SCRE.

“Appellant, Jeffrey Bethea, and Nathaniel Douglas were in a gang from the southside of Lumberton, North Carolina. The victim was in a competing gang from the eastside of Lumberton. On May 27, 2007, the victim, his girlfriend, and several others decided to drive down to Myrtle Beach to see bike weekend. Appellant, Bethea and Douglas were also in Myrtle Beach that weekend. The victim was shot and killed that evening and three bystanders were hit by stray bullets. The State’s theory of the case was one of accomplice liability and that the shooting was done by appellant, Douglas and Bethea. The killing was thought to have been done in retaliation because the victim had killed a member in appellant’s gang. Nathaniel Douglas testified for the State and implicated Bethea. Bethea testified for State in exchange for more lenient treatment and implicated appellant. Appellant’s defense was that Bethea was the (1) shooter.

In an effort to prove that appellant was the shooter, the State wanted to put into evidence testimony from the victim’s sister that appellant shot the victim at a Walmart parking lot in Lumberton about a month prior to the shooting in Myrtle Beach.

At an in camera hearing, Danyell Hammonds, the victim’s sister, testified that the victim came home one night in April of 2006 with blood on his shirt and said that he got shot at Walmart by “Bos” who is appellant’s nickname. She also said her brother was in a rival gang and had gotten out of prison about a month prior to this shooting. He had been convicted of accessory

after the fact of murder. The victim in that case was in the gang appellant belonged to. (R. p. 141, line 6- p. 144, line 17).

After much discussion, the trial court held that the victim's sister could testify to what her brother told her because it was an excited utterance under Rule 803(2), SCRE. (R. p. 183, line 11- p. 184, line 14). Defense counsel had argued earlier that the evidence should not come in under Rule 403, SCRE because of unfair prejudice. (R. p. 182, lines 7-10; p. 159, line 20- p. 160, line 1). Later, the trial court allowed the solicitor the opportunity to put on the record that she was also putting in this evidence as a prior bad act under Rule 404, SCRE. She said it went to motive, intent, common scheme of plan, continuous scheme of plan and identity. The trial judge found there was clear and convincing evidence of the prior bad act. (R. p. 186, line 18- p. 187, line 14). The decision to admit this evidence was in error.

Rule 403, SCRE provides that "evidence may be excluded if its probative value is substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice..." "Evidence is unfairly prejudicial if it has an undue tendency to suggest a decision on an improper basis." State v. Alexander, 303 S.C. 377, 382, 401 S.E.2d 146 (1991). If we assume that the victim's sister is telling the truth about what her brother told her,² there is still the danger that the jury will conclude that, if appellant shot the victim once, he must also be the one who shot him a second time.

In State v. Gore, 283 S.C. 118, 322 S.E.2d 12 (1984) the Court wrote:

Under our system of justice, a conviction must be based upon evidence of the offense for which the accused is on trial rather than prior criminal or immoral acts. State v. Lyle, 125 S.C. 406, 118 S.E. 803 (1923). Furthermore, where bad acts did not result in a conviction, guilty plea, indictment, or arrest of the appellant, this Court has limited the State's use of evidence. State

² In "most cases, proof that the event occurred is furnished either by testimony other than the declarant, or by circumstantial evidence that something out of the ordinary occurred." Weinstein's Federal Evidence §803. 04 [2][a] at p 803-20-21 (March, 1977 ed).

v. Smith, 279 S.C. 440, 308 S.E.2d 794 (1983). (Appellant's lover improperly related instance of the appellant's unconvicted sexual battery upon her in his trial for murder of another woman); State v. Rivers, 273 S.C.75, 254 S.E.2d 299 (1979). (In trial for criminal sexual conduct with the prosecutrix, the court erred in receiving testimony from the appellant's wife regarding his prior unconvicted acts of sexual misconduct on her). State v. Conyers, 268 S.C. 276, 233 S.E.2d 95 (1977). (Allegations that the appellant poisoned her first husband were not admissible because the evidence was not clear and convincing); State v. Drew, 316 S.E.2d 367 (S.C. 1984).)Cross-examination and reply testimony regarding unconvicted act of burning a combine not proper in criminal conspiracy trial for burning a business.)

The Court went on to conclude that "when, as here, the previous alleged bad act is strikingly similar to the one for which the appellant is being tried, the danger of prejudice is enhanced."

The trial court in this case failed to conduct a balancing test to determine whether the probative value of the prior bad act substantially outweighed its prejudicial effect. See, State v. Colf, 337 S.E. 2d 622, 525 S.E. 2d 246 (2000); Green v. State, 338 S.C. 428, 527 S.E.2d 98 (2000). At the end of the case the trial court remarked that, "I don't know the basis for the jury's finding of guilt, whether it be that the jury felt that you were the shooter or you were an accomplice." (R. p. 577, lines 10-12). Appellate Counsel would suggest that the basis was the unfair prejudice of the prior bad act."

THE COURT OF APPEALS OPINION ON DIRECT APPEAL

The Court of Appeals opinion is reported at 403 S.C. 247, 742 S.E. 2d 878 (2013). It should be noted the Court found that the trial court failed to conduct an on-the-record balancing test concerning the prior bad act testimony and that this failure was not harmless. (emphasis supplied). The Court of Appeals explained as follows:

We note the potential prejudice to Spears upon the introduction of this evidence. Spears was tried for shooting and killing Victim. The prior bad act testimony involved Spears shooting the Victim a month before the incident herein. Based upon these similarities, the jury could have determined Spears was guilty on an improper basis by relying on the Wal-mart testimony as propensity evidence. See *State v. Wiles*, 383 S.C. 151, 158, 679 S.E.2d 172, 176 (2009) (“Unfair prejudice means an undue tendency to suggest decision on an improper basis.”); *State v. Johnson*, 293 S.C. 321, 324, 360 S.E. 2d 317,319 (1987) (“[E]vidence of other crimes or prior bad acts is inadmissible to show criminal propensity.”); *State v. Gore*, 283 S.C. 118, 121, 322 S.E. 2d 12, 13 (1984) (stating when a “previous alleged bad act is strikingly similar to the one for which the appellant is being tried, the danger of prejudice is enhanced”); *State v. Taylor*, 399 S.C. 51, 61, 731 S.E.2d 596, 601 (Ct. App. 2011) (recognizing the prejudicial effect of admitting “evidence of other crimes, wrongs, or acts based upon the degree of similarity with the charged crime”). Moreover, based upon the record herein, we are unable to say that the admission of the prior bad act testimony was harmless error. See *Black*, 400 S.C. at 27, 732 S.E.2d at 890 (“In applying the harmless error rule, the court must be able to declare the error had little, if any, likelihood of having *259 changed the result of the trial and the court must be able to declare such belief beyond a reasonable doubt.”); *Scriven*, 339 S.C. at 344, 529 S.E.2d at 77 (“On the basis of this record, we are unable to say that the admission of these prior convictions was harmless error.”) Accordingly, we find it appropriate to remand for an on-the-rule record Rule 403 balancing test.

403 S.C. at 258-259, 742 S.E. 2d at 884.

PETITION FOR REHEARING

Appellant petitioned for rehearing and counsel wrote the following:

The solicitor in this case failed to specify why the Wal-Mart shooting was admissible under Rule 404(b). Instead, she merely made a rote recitation of all the exceptions to State v. Lyle, 125 S.C. 406, 118 S.E. 803 (1923). Counsel has found in the past when a solicitor can not specify the exception, the real motive is to prejudice the defendant with the prior bad act.

This Court found and concluded that it was “unable to say that the admission of the prior bad act at testimony was harmless error.” If the error was not harmless, remanding the case for a Rule 403, SCRE balancing test would lead only to prejudice and confusion, it is respectfully submitted.

Both appellant’s petition and respondent’s petitions were denied.

THE CURRENT APPEAL

In this current appeal it should be noted that in State v. Palmer and Gorman 413 S.C. 410, 776 S.E. 2d 558 (2015) that the case was also from Horry County and it was also before Judge Hyman. There, the assistant solicitor “admitted that they did not know who did this crime so they were prosecuting both parties!” (Brief of Appellant, p. 21). Directed verdicts were granted on all charges against Palmer by the South Carolina Supreme Court. In this current case, again in Horry County and again before Judge Hyman, the assistant attorney general noted in his Brief of Respondent that “The State proceeded under the theory that either Appellant or Bethea shot the victim...” (Brief of Respondent, p. 8). Apparently, in Horry County, if the solicitors do not, or cannot figure out who is guilty, they will throw their suspects into a trial and let the jury guess at who is guilty.