ORIGINAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

Appeal from Beaufort County
The Honorable Larry B. Hyman, Circuit Court Judge

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

v.

BRIAN SPEARS

APPELLANT.

Appellate Case No. 2017-000480

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

W. JEFFREY YOUNG
Chief Deputy Attorney General

DONALD J. ZELENKA
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General

MELODY J. BROWN
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General

W. JOSEPH MAYE
Assistant Attorney General
S.C. Bar No. 100851
P.O. Box 11549
Columbia, South Carolina 29211
(803) 734-3131

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

RECEIVED
MAR 09 2018
SC Court of Appeals

**STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals**

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Appellant Brian Spears was indicted on one count of Murder and three counts of Assault and Battery with Intent to Kill (“ABWIK). (Case No. 2007-GS-26-3387, #2007-GS-26-3388, #2007-GS-26-3389, #2007-GS-26-3390). On May 10, 2010, the Honorable Larry B. Hyman, Jr. presided over Appellant’s jury trial. (R.p. 5). Appellant was represented by Barbara Pratt and the State was represented by Assistant Solicitors Donna Elder and Lawrence Filiberto. (R.p. 5). After a three day trial, Appellant was convicted on all four charges and sentenced to thirty (30) years imprisonment for murder, and twenty (20) years imprisonment for each ABWIK charge, to run concurrently. (R.pp. 579, 587).

Following his conviction, Appellant sought direct Appeal to the South Carolina Court of Appeals on the basis that the trial court erred in admitting evidence of prior bad acts of Appellant that were unfairly prejudicial. Both Appellant and Respondent submitted their respective Final Briefs on September 12, 2011. Oral argument was heard by the Court of Appeals on January 17, 2013. The Court of Appeals then issued its published Opinion in the matter on April 17, 2013. The Court of Appeals agreed that the trial court was in error and remanded the issue back to the trial court with instructions that a 403 balancing test be conducted on the record to determine whether unfair prejudice substantially outweighed the probative value of the evidence in question. *State v. Spears*, 403 S.C. 247, 259, 742 S.E.2d 878, 884 (Ct. App. 2013).

Respondent filed a Petition for rehearing *en banc* on April 26, 2013. Appellant filed a petition for rehearing. Both parties’ Petitions were denied on June 14, 2013. The State filed a Petition for Writ of Certiorari on July 12, 2013. On July 15, 2013, Appellant filed his own Petition for Writ of Certiorari. The Appellant’s and the State’s respective Returns to the Petitions were filed on August 1, 2013, and August 14, 2013. The South Carolina Supreme Court issued

an Order denying the Petitions of both parties on September 11, 2014.

As instructed, the rehearing on remand was heard on December 8, 2016, before the Honorable Judge Larry B. Hyman, Jr. Appellant was again represented by Barbara Pratt, however, Assistant Solicitor Thomas Terrell represented the Respondent at hearing. (R.p. 732). Following the arguments from both parties, Judge Hyman took the matter under advisement so that he could give further consideration to the matter. (R.p. 754). On February 9, 2017, Judge Hyman issued his Amended Order on Remand for Rule 403 Hearing (hereinafter “Amended Order”, finding the probative value of the admitted prior bad act was not substantially outweighed by unfair prejudice. (Amended Order, R.p. 764). Judge Hyman also held in his Order that in light of the evidence presented trial, there was no undue tendency to suggest a decision on an improper basis brought about by a propensity argument. (Amended Order, R.p. 764).

This appeal now follows.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Testimony from initial trial

On May 26, 2007, Appellant, along with fellow gang members Nathaniel “June” Douglas, Ishmael “Ish” Douglas,¹ and Thomas “T.C.” Shaw (collectively Appellant’s group) left Lumberton, North Carolina and headed to Myrtle Beach over bike weekend.² (R.p. 217-18, 472-73). The three individuals were all part of a Lumberton gang known as 41-Curve. (R.pp. 196-97, 210, 211, 282-83, 287, 361, 490).

Once arriving on Ocean Boulevard, Appellant’s group was joined by fellow 41-Curve member, Jeffrey “Bird” Bethea. (R.pp. 211-12). Testimony from trial indicated that Appellant

¹ Ishmael “Ish” Douglas is also known as Wa-Gee. (R.p. 218).

² Appellant, along with June, was a member of 41-Curve, a Lumberton gang affiliated with Gangster Disciples and Folk Nation. (R.pp. 196-97, 210, 211, 282-83, 287, 361, 490).

was wearing a white t-shirt and a black t-shirt underneath a red t-shirt along with a black and red New York Yankees hat, while fellow gang member Nathaniel Douglas, was wearing a red O.J. Simpson jersey.³ (R.pp 210-11, 221). Bethea, who did not know Appellant's group was coming to Myrtle Beach, wore a black shirt with colorful combination locks on it, a black hat, and blue jean shorts. (R.pp. 217-18, 363, 219, 220). Testimony elicited at trial demonstrated that Defendant's red colored attire was important: Red was actually the color of the "East Side Bloods", a rival gang to 41-Curve. Testimony from witnesses familiar with gang activity informed the jury that gang members would often wear the color of a rival gang when they intended to "go do something". (R.pp. 201-02).

Shortly after Bethea's arrival, a member of Appellant's group stated they had observed Aaron Hammonds ("Victim") walking down Ocean Boulevard. (R.p. 478). Victim was a high-ranking member of Lumberton's East Side Bloods, and had served four years in prison for "Accessory after the fact" in the murder of 41-Curve member Eric Floyd, also known as "G-Black" and "Turk". (R.pp. 147-48, 195-97, 211-13). Testimony from Brittney Maynor, Victim's girlfriend, showed that Victim, Aaron Hammonds, fellow East Side Blood Lemark Irons, and other members of the East Side Bloods were walking together along Ocean Boulevard. (R.pp. 114-15, 118-19). Lemark Irons, left the group and approached Appellant's group to compliment them on their clothes and jewelry stating "we need to stop beefing and get money together." (R.pp. 117-18, 119-20, 193, 195, 195, 201-03, 223). Irons, whose right arm was in a

³ Danyell Hammonds, who was the victim, Aaron Hammonds' younger sister and lived with him, would later testify that her brother was a Blood and that Bloods wear red. (R.pp. 201-02). However, Danyell Hammonds further explained that when gang members would "go to do something" they would wear opposite colors. (R.pp. 201-02). Additionally, Appellant's former cellmate in the detention center, Timothy Smith, testified that Appellant told him he received a phone call that Aaron Hammonds was in Myrtle Beach for bike week prompting Appellant's and his friends to come to Myrtle Beach. (R.pp. 428-29).

sling, then attempted to shake Bethea's hand with his left hand, which Nathaniel Douglas would later explain, was considered a sign of disrespect. (R.p. 223). In response to Irons' gesture, Bethea slapped Irons' hand and began cursing at him. (R.pp. 223, 234). Irons then left the group, and crossed Ocean Boulevard, once again rejoining his group on the other side of the street. (R.pp. 223, 119-20).

Immediately after the initial altercation, Bethea, who was a high-ranking member of 41-Curve, became angry and began talking to Appellant who was a foot soldier in 41-Curve and did not get along with Victim. (R.pp. 212, 362, 224, 232, 369-371). Specifically, Appellant expressed to Bethea his belief that Irons and his group, which included Victim, were going to kill someone in Appellant's group, unless Appellant and Bethea killed someone from Irons and Victim's group first. (R.pp. 369-70). Following this conversation, a shooting occurred resulting in Victim's death. (R.pp. 125-133, 138-140). In addition, three bystanders were wounded. (R.p. 54, 78-79, 93, 111).

At the crime scene, authorities interviewed multiple witnesses and were able to produce a composite sketch matching Bethea's description. (R.p. 276-77). After interviewing Bethea, authorities also spoke with Appellant in Lumberton on June 4, 2007. (R.p. 277). In the June 4th interview, Appellant repeatedly denied being in Myrtle Beach on the date in question instead claiming he was in Lumberton all weekend. (R.pp. 280-81, 283). Additionally, Appellant informed authorities that he did not hang around Bethea. (R.p. 281). Following the first interview Appellant was charged with one count of Murder and three counts of ABWIK. (R.pp. 285-86).

After waiving extradition, Appellant was transported back to Myrtle Beach where he was interviewed a second time on June 7, 2007. (R.pp. 285-86). In his second statement, Appellant

admitted he was in Myrtle Beach on the date in question, but insisted that after the altercation between Bethea and Irons he walked away with Nathaniel Douglas and, when he heard gunshots, fled the scene. (R.pp. 289-90).

At trial, the State presented testimony that there were eight (8) shell casings recovered from the crime scene and three bullets recovered from Victim's body during the autopsy. (R.pp. 83-85, 95-96). SLED Agent Suzanne Cromer then testified that both the shell casings and bullets came from a .25 caliber automatic weapon. (T.pp. 353-54).

The State also introduced eyewitness testimony from Brittney Maynor. Maynor testified that the shooter was a black male who was approximately five-foot-seven (5'7) and was wearing a red shirt, a red bandana over his face, and a red fitted hat with another red bandana on his wrist.⁴ (R.pp. 125-26, 131, 133). She further noted that the shooter crossed the road and was right in front of her when she saw him begin shooting. (R.pp. 116, 125, 128). Maynor then told the jury that she turned and began running when she heard "five or six" shots. (R.pp. 129, 132). Maynor described the gun as a silver and black .380 that was small enough to fit in the palm of her hand. (R.p. 133).

Additionally the State presented testimony from Appellant's co-defendants, Nathaniel Douglas and Jeffrey Bethea. (R.pp. 209-272, 359-421). Nathaniel Douglas testified that after Irons' initial dispute with Bethea he walked off while Appellant remained with the rest of the group. Continuing, Nathaniel Douglas informed that jury that approximately ten minutes after he left Appellant's group, he heard gunfire and saw Appellant and the other members of his group running up the street. (R.pp. 224, 226-27). Nathaniel Douglas also confirmed that Appellant had a medium black and titanium handgun in his waistband on the night in question,

⁴ A South Carolina Department of Corrections incarcerated inmate search lists Appellant's height at five-foot-nine (5'9).

which was around the size of a .380, while also noting that Bethea did not appear to be carrying a gun. (R.pp. 224-26). Meanwhile, Bethea confirmed that Nathaniel Douglas left the group and explained that he and Appellant subsequently approached Irons' and Victim's group and attacked them. (R.p. 371). Specifically, Bethea told the jury that Appellant pulled out a small caliber handgun from his waistband and began shooting. (R.pp. 372-73).

To corroborate Bethea's version of the shooting, the State also introduced rap lyrics written by Appellant which indicated Appellant had killed Victim to avenge Eric Floyd's death. (R.pp. 215-17, 328-29, 337). There was also testimony from Appellant's former cellmate Timothy Smith, who shared a cell with Appellant while he was awaiting trial. (R.pp. 421-444). Smith told the jury that Appellant informed him he had pushed through the crowd and shot Victim because he believed Bethea would not do it. (R.pp. 428-29). Smith further added that Appellant said he would kill Bethea, his brother, his children and his whole family because he "snitched" on him. (R.pp. 428-29). Smith also learned through his conversations with Appellant, that Appellant had been told that Victim would be in Myrtle Beach, and that Appellant and his group drove to go take care of him. (R.pp. 427-28).

Following the close of the State's case, the defense presented testimony from eyewitness Alexis Brown who was part of Irons' and Victim's group on the night of the shooting. (R.p. 450). Brown testified that the composite generated by authorities was Bethea, but confirmed that the shooter was wearing a red bandana over his face and pulled a gun from his waistband. (R.pp. 453-54, 456-57).

Finally, Appellant testified in his own defense. (R.pp. 471-521). Specifically, Appellant explained he had walked off following the dispute between Irons and Bethea, heard gunshots and ran back to the K-Mart parking lot to meet with the rest of his group. (R.pp. 481-82). He added

that he did not shoot anyone. (R.p. 472). On cross-examination, Appellant admitted he brought a gun to Myrtle Beach, but left it in the car. (R.p. 495). Appellant also admitted he owned a .380, but gave it away. (R.p. 510).

PRESENTATION OF ISSUE AT TRIAL AND AT REMAND HEARING

The issue before the court after remand involves the admission of prior bad acts evidence against Appellant without the trial court first performing a 403 balancing test to determine whether unfair prejudice substantially outweighs the probative value of the evidence in question. *State v. Spears*, 403 S.C. 247, 259, 742 S.E.2d 878, 884 (Ct. App. 2013). The prior bad act comes from the testimony of Victim's sister, Danyell Hammonds (hereinafter "Ms. Hammonds"). Prior to her testimony before the jury, the trial court proffered her testimony in order to address concerns of hearsay and evidence of prior bad acts. (R.pp. 145-160).

During the proffered testimony, Ms. Hammonds recalled that about one month after Victim was released from prison for accessory after the fact in the murder of Eric Floyd, he came running into their home around midnight. (R.pp. 145-48, 151). She testified that Victim exclaimed that he had been shot, that she saw that the wound on his shoulder was still bleeding, and that he still had fresh blood on his hands. She asked who had shot him and recalled that Victim's response was "come on, man, you know who did it. . . Bos, man, Bos." (R.p. 153). Ms. Hammonds knew that "Bos" was Appellant's nickname. (R.p. 147).

The trial court heard this testimony and initially expressed concern that, while it was certainly relevant testimony, that it was hearsay and doubted that it would fall under the exception of "excited utterance". (R.p. 161). However, to corroborate the testimony of Ms. Hammonds, the State proffered the Walmart security video that showed the shooting take place. (R.pp. 169-70). The video showed that the shooting had taken place at 12:10am, which

corresponded closely the timeframe in which Ms. Hammonds claimed the Victim's statement occurred. (R.pp. 150, 170, 178). The video did not identify Appellant and the Solicitor acknowledged that they would not attempt to introduce the video, but only utilized it to corroborate the testimony of Ms. Hammonds as hearsay, admissible under excited utterance exception, and to show that the evidence was clear and convincing to purposes of admitting a prior bad act of Appellant. (R.pp. 170-71, 190-91)

The court heard initial arguments from both parties about the admissibility of Ms. Hammonds' testimony, and then gave the parties the opportunity to research the matter and present additional arguments and case law in support of their positions the following morning. (R.pp. 165-173).

Arguments continued the following morning, wherein the State put forth case law demonstrating that an excited utterance statement does not require the statement to be made contemporaneous with stressful event. (R.pp. 176-180). All that is required is that declarant still be under the influence of the stress from the event without opportunity to have calmed down. (R.pp. 176-180). The Court ultimately ruled that Ms. Hammonds' testimony demonstrating Appellant to have shot the Victim on a prior occasion was admissible under the excited utterance exception. (R.pp. 187-88). The court cited that Ms. Hammonds' testified it was approximately midnight when Victim informed her that "Bos" had shot him, which was corroborated by the time records of the Walmart video. (R.pp. 187-88). Also, the Court acknowledge that the description of how he entered the home, and the fact that he was still treating a bleeding wound would indicate that Victim was still under the stress of the shooting. (R.pp. 187-88). Furthermore, the trial court found that evidence of Appellant's prior bad act was clear and convincing when the testimony of Ms. Hammonds and the video were considered together. (R.

pp. 187-191). The Court found that the evidence met the *Lyle* exceptions and went to show motive, intent, lack of mistake or accident, and common plan or scheme. (R.pp. 168-69, 191). However, the trial court did not conduct an on the record 403 balancing test to determine whether the unfair prejudice of Ms. Hammonds' testimony outweighed its probative value. Ms. Hammonds testimony before the jury was substantially similar to her proffered testimony, and the evidence was admitted over the preserved objections of Appellant. (R.pp. 190-208).

The Court of Appeals remanded the matter back to the trial court so that a 403 balancing test could be performed on the record. *State v. Spears*, 403 S.C. 247, 259, 742 S.E.2d 878, 884 (Ct. App. 2013). A hearing on December 8, 2016 was held before Judge Hyman in order to perform the 403 balancing test. (R.pp. 732-756). The Court heard the arguments of counsel during the hearing and took the matter under advisement. (R.pp. 754). The Court then issued an extensive Amended Order, finding that the probative value of Ms. Hammonds' testimony was not substantially outweighed by unfair prejudice, along with detailed analysis and reasoning for the decision. (Amended Order, R.pp. 757-764).

Appellant now seeks to appeal the ruling of the trial court as set forth by the Amended Order.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

A trial judge is given broad discretion in ruling on questions concerning the relevancy of evidence. *State v. Alexander*, 303 S.C. 377, 401 S.E.2d 146 (1991); *State v. Jeffcoat* 354, 279 S.C. 167, 303 S.E.2d 855 (1983). A trial court's rulings pursuant to 403 balancing test are subject to an abuse of discretion standard and great deference is given to the trial court's decision. *State v. Myers*, 359 S.C. 40, 48, 596 S.E.2d 488, 492 (2004). An abuse of discretion "means nothing more or less than that the ruling of the trial court was without reasonable factual support, resulted

in prejudice to the rights of appellant, and therefore, in the circumstances, amounted to error of law.” *Bridges v. Wyandotte Worsted Co.*, 239 S.C. 37, 40, 121 S.E.2d 300, 302 (1961). “A trial judge’s balancing decision under Rule 403 should not be reversed simply because an appellate court believes it would have decided the matter otherwise because of a differing view of the highly subjective factors of the probative value or the prejudice presented by the evidence.” *State v. Hamilton*, 344 S.C. 344, 358, 543 S.E.2d 586, 594 (Ct. App. 2001), overruled on other grounds by *State v. Gentry*, 363 S.C. 93, 610 S.E.2d 494 (2005) (citing *United States v. Long*, 574 F.2d 761 (3d Cir.1978)). A trial judge’s decision regarding the comparative probative value and prejudicial effect of evidence should be reversed only in “exceptional circumstances.” *Hamilton*, at 593 (citing *United States v. Green*, 887 F.2d 25, 27 (1st Cir.1989)).

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The trial court did not abuse its discretion in finding that the probative value of Ms. Hammond’s testimony was not substantially outweighed by unfair prejudice to Appellant. The Amended Order demonstrates that the trial court’s recitation of the facts was supported by the record, and that the trial court conducted a thorough 403 balancing test of Ms. Hammonds’ testimony. The court’s reasoning that the evidence provided the full picture of the State’s gang retaliation theory in a way that other evidence could not, and that the evidence of the prior shooting by Appellant was overwhelmingly probative to show numerous *Lyle* exceptions to bad act evidence. The Court also articulated that concern over propensity arguments is considerably reduced given that there was substantial evidence presented at trial to prove identity of Defendant as the shooter. As such, the trial court did not abuse its discretion in admitting the evidence at trial and the conviction should be affirmed.

ARGUMENT

The sole issue on appeal of this matter is whether the trial court abused its discretion in finding that the probative value of Ms. Hammonds' testimony was not substantially outweighed by the unfair prejudice of the prior bad act of Appellant. Based upon the hearing transcript, and the extensive factual findings and reasoning of the Amended Order from the trial court, no abuse of discretion exists and the conviction should be affirmed.

A trial court's rulings pursuant to 403 balancing test are subject to an abuse of discretion standard and great deference is given to the trial court's decision. *State v. Myers*, 359 S.C. 40, 48, 596 S.E.2d 488, 492 (2004). Thus, in order for the trial court's 403 balancing test to be reversed on appeal, there must be a lack of reasonable factual support or errors of law in the trial court's analysis. *Bridges v. Wyandotte Worsted Co.*, 239 S.C. 37, 40, 121 S.E.2d 300, 302 (1961).

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